FILE COPY

**DO NOT REMOVE
FROM FILE**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS, WEST VIRGINIA

No. 19-0484

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. The circuit court erred in finding that W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) is an *ex post facto* law that cannot be applied retroactively to Respondent because the statute is a civil statute and the salesperson license process is a civil proceeding.
- II. The circuit court erred in finding that Respondent was denied due process because the denial of Respondent's license application was mandated by statute; the denial of his license was in direct relation to the statute's stated purpose - the protection of customers, dealers, banks, and the State from fraudulent activity; and Respondent was given notice of the denial of his license and the reasons therefore, and was given an opportunity to appear before the Commissioner's representatives and produce evidence on his behalf.
- III. The circuit court erred in finding that W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) is overly broad as it is directly related to the stated purpose of W. Va. Code §§17A-6E-1 (2006), *et seq.* - the protection of customers, dealers, banks, and the state from fraudulent activity.
- IV. The circuit court erred in finding that §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) is too narrow as it specifically prohibits all individuals who commit fraudulent acts from obtaining a salesperson license regardless of whether said acts were felonies, misdemeanors, or even criminal in nature.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The West Virginia Division of Motor Vehicles ("WVDMV") is the state agency responsible for, *inter alia*, issuing motor vehicle salesperson licenses under W. Va. Code §§17A-6E-1 (2006), *et seq.* Petitioner, the Commissioner of the WVDMV, is an officer of the State of West Virginia who is appointed by, and serves at the will and pleasure of, the Governor of West Virginia. W. Va. Code §17A-2-2 (1951). Until March 31, 2019, Pat S. Reed was the Commissioner of the WVDMV. As of the date of the filing of this appeal, WVDMV General Counsel Adam Holley is currently the Acting Commissioner. Mr. Holley appears in his official capacity as the executive officer of the WVDMV.

On October 10, 2005, Timothy McCabe (“Respondent”) signed a plea agreement dated October 5, 2005 agreeing to waive his right to indictment and plead guilty to a felony. (App.¹ at 69-73). The crime involved falsifying a loan application for a customer’s motor vehicle purchase while employed in a motor dealership in Wheeling, West Virginia. (App. at 69-73, 111-112, and 114-121). The above plea agreement was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia on March 14, 2006. (App. at 74-79). On June 1, 2006, the District Court sentenced Respondent to two years’ probation. (App. at 80-84). W. Va. Code §§17A-6E-1, *et seq.* was enacted on March 11, 2006, went into effect on June 9, 2006, and required that commencing on January 1, 2008, all motor vehicle salespersons obtain a license under Chapter 17A, Article 6E.

Respondent did not work as a salesperson from the date of his conviction until April 2018. (App. at 114, 116, 118, and 123). On April 5, 2018, Respondent applied for a motor vehicle salesperson license and was granted a temporary license. (App. at 52). On April 30, 2018, Respondent’s application for licensure was denied under W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) due to Respondent’s prior felony conviction. (App. at 50). On May 3, 2018, Respondent appealed the denial of his licensure to the Commissioner, the denial of Respondent’s licensure was stayed, and Respondent retained a temporary salesperson license pending his appeal. (App. at 48-49, 126).

On August 21, 2018, a hearing was held before Sandra Castillo, Hearing Examiner. (App. at 108, 126). The independent Hearing Examiner was appointed by the Commissioner to make a proper disposition (App. at 126). At this hearing, Respondent admitted to being convicted of a felony in 2006 for falsifying a loan application while employed at a motor vehicle dealership in Wheeling, West Virginia. (App. at 111-112, 114-121). Respondent further testified that the loan application was for a customer at the dealership, that Petitioner knew information on the loan

¹ App. refers to the Appendix filed contemporaneously with *Petitioner’s Brief*.

application was not accurate, and that the customer eventually defaulted on the loan. (App. at 111-112, 114-121). Respondent also submitted character references and the testimony of Matthew Jones, Respondent's current employer, on his behalf. (App. 40-46, 121-124)

Because Respondent was convicted of a felony involving the motor vehicle industry, the Commissioner issued a "Final Order" on October 19, 2018 denying Respondent's appeal based upon W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006). (App. at 26-28). On November 15, 2018, Respondent filed a Petition for Review with the Circuit Court of Ohio County. (App. at 1-30). On April 30, 2019, the Circuit Court entered an Order granting Respondent's Petition for Review and reversing the Commissioner's Order. (App. at 1, 129-150).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The circuit court erred in finding that W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) is an *ex post facto* law that cannot be applied retroactively. The statute is not an *ex post facto* law and can be applied retroactively because it is a civil statute, it is not penal in nature, and the salesperson license process is a civil proceeding. This Court has held that "[t]he due process concerns of the *Ex Post Facto* Clause have application only to retroactivity of 'punitive' laws or rules. That is, '[a] fundamental principle of *ex post facto* law is that it only applies to criminal proceedings, not civil.'" *Richmond v. Levin*, 219 W. Va. 512, 516, 637 S.E.2d 610, 614 (2006) (per curiam) citing *State v. Smith*, 198 W. Va. 702, 713, 482 S.E.2d 687, 698 (1996). The legislative intent is clear that W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) is a civil statute and is not penal in nature. The stated purpose of W. Va. Code §17A-6E-1(a) (2006) is "to protect retail motor vehicle customers, motor vehicle dealers, banks and the state from sustaining losses due to the fraudulent activity of persons engaged in the business of selling vehicles." Accordingly, W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) is a civil statute and can be applied retroactively.

The circuit court further erred in finding that Respondent was denied due process. The denial of Respondent's license application was mandated by statute – W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006). Additionally, the denial of his license was directly related to the stated purpose of the statute - the protection of customers, dealers, banks, and the State from fraudulent activity in the motor vehicle industry. W. Va. Code §17A-6E-1(a) (2006). Furthermore, Respondent was given proper notice of the denial of his license application and the reasons therefore, had the opportunity to retain counsel, had the opportunity to appear before the Commissioner's representatives and produce evidence on his behalf, and had the opportunity to appear before an unbiased hearing tribunal that kept an adequate record of the proceedings. *See Jordan v. Roberts*, 161 W. Va. 750, 755-56, 246 S.E.2d 259, 262 (1978), *citing* Syl. Pt. 3, *North v. Board of Regents*, 160 W. Va. 248, 233 S.E.2d 411 (1977). Furthermore, the circuit court erroneously found that Respondent pleaded guilty to falsifying a loan application without knowledge that his salesperson license application would be denied in the future. The subject statute was enacted *before* Respondent's plea agreement was filed with the District Court and *before* judgment was entered by the District Court. Finally, the circuit court's determination that Respondent has had no legal issues since 2005 and that there is no risk that he would engage in fraudulent activity in the future ignored that Respondent did not work as a salesperson in the automobile industry for over 12 years or at any time after his conviction in 2006. Accordingly, Respondent was not denied due process.

The circuit court also erred in finding that W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) is overly broad. The circuit court determined that the subject statute provides no exceptions for those persons who committed felonies in the motor vehicle industry. But this analysis ignores that the denial of licensure for these persons is directly related to the stated purpose of W. Va. Code §§17A-6E-1 (2006), *et seq.* - the protection of customers, dealers, banks, and the State from fraudulent

activity. Furthermore, not all felonies are included. Instead, only felonies involving financial matters or involving the motor vehicle industry are included, with exceptions permitted for other felonies. If any exceptions were permitted for those convicted of felonies involving the motor vehicle industry, the entire purpose of the statute would be frustrated.

Finally, the circuit court erred in finding that §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) is overly narrow in that it specifically prohibits all individuals who commit a certain type of felony from obtaining a salesperson license, but allows others who have committed criminal acts to obtain licensure so long as such acts were not felonies. The circuit court wholly ignored the specific language of W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(4) (2006), which also prohibits licensure to an individual who commits a fraudulent act or omission or has repeatedly defaulted in financial obligations regarding the motor vehicle industry regardless of whether said acts were felonies, misdemeanors, or even criminal in nature.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 20 of the Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure, the Commissioner requests oral argument on the bases that this case involves issues of first impression, involves issues of fundamental public importance, and involves constitutional questions regarding the validity of statutes.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

A circuit court's review of an agency's administrative order is conducted pursuant to the West Virginia Administrative Procedures Act, W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4 (1998). *Dean v. W. Va. Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 195 W. Va. 70, 71, 464 S.E.2d 589, 590 (1995) (per curiam).

The court may affirm the order or decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. It shall reverse, vacate or modify the order or decision of the

agency if the substantial rights of the petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, decision or order are:

- (1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or
- (2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or
- (3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or
- (4) Affected by other error of law; or
- (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

W. Va. Code § 29A-5-4(g) (1998).

This Court's review of a circuit court's order deciding an administrative appeal is made pursuant to W. Va. Code §29A-5-4(a)(1998). This Court reviews questions of law *de novo*; and findings of fact by the administrative office are accorded deference unless the reviewing court believes the findings to be clearly wrong. *Reed v. Hall*, 235 W. Va. 322, 773 S.E.2d 666 (2015). "Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review." Syl. Pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W. Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).

II. The circuit court erred in finding that W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) is an *ex post facto* law that cannot be applied retroactively because it is a civil statute and the salesperson license process is a civil proceeding.

The West Virginia Legislature intended for §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) to apply retroactively. This Court has held that "a statute is intended to operate prospectively, and not retrospectively, unless it appears, by clear, strong and imperative words or by necessary implication, that the Legislature intended to give the statute retroactive force and effect." *Martinez v. Asplundh Tree Expert Co.*, 239 W. Va. 612, 803 S.E.2d 582, 586-87 (2017) (internal citations omitted). This Court has held that "[w]here the language of a statute is clear and without ambiguity the plain

meaning is to be accepted without resorting to the rules of interpretation.” Syl Pt. 2, *State v. Elder*, 152 W. Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 (1968).

W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) requires that the Commissioner refuse to issue a license if the applicant “*has been convicted* of a felony.” The phrase *has been convicted* denotes an act occurring prior to the application for licensure. Furthermore, it is evident that the Legislature intended retroactive application because prospective application of the statute would directly frustrate the intended purpose of the statute. Specifically, an individual like Respondent who was convicted of a felony in the motor vehicle industry eight days prior to June 9, 2006, the effective date of the statute, can obtain a salesperson license, but an individual who is convicted of a felony one day after the effective date cannot obtain said license. This construction of the statute would result in an absurdity. This Court has consistently held that where a particular construction of a statute would result in an absurdity, some other reasonable construction, which will not result in an absurdity, will be made instead. *Matheny v. Scalpio*, 240 W. Va. 30, 39, 807 S.E.2d 278, 297 (2017); Syl. Pt. 3, *Sheena H. ex rel. Russell H. v. Amfire, LLC*, 235 W. Va. 132, 772 S.E.2d 317 (2015); *State v. Horn*, 232 W. Va. 32, 42, 750 S.E. 2d 248, 258 (2013); *Pristavec v. Westfield Insurance Company*, 184 W. Va. 331, 337, 400 S.E.2d 575, 581 (1990); Syl. Pt. 2, *Newhart v. Pennybacker*, 120 W. Va. 774, 200 S.E. 350 (1938); Syl. Pt. 2, *Click v. Click*, 98 W. Va. 419, 127 S.E. 194 (1925). The statute aims to prevent all said persons from obtaining licensure regardless of when the felony conviction occurred, and the use of past tense language clearly indicates this intent. Any alternate construction of the statute would result in an absurdity and would clearly frustrate the purpose of the statute.

Irrespective, this Court has held that “[t]he due process concerns of the *Ex Post Facto* Clause have application only to retroactivity of ‘punitive’ laws or rules. That is, ‘[a] fundamental

principle of *ex post facto* law is that it only applies to criminal proceedings, not civil.'" *Richmond*, 219 W. Va. at 516, 637 S.E.2d at 614 citing *Smith*, 198 W. Va. at 713, 82 S.E.2d at 698 (1996); See also *Haislop v. Edgell*, 215 W. Va. 88, 94, 593 S.E.2d 839, 845 (2003) (observing that legislation which is civil "would not implicate the *ex post facto* clause," whereas legislation which is punitive "would violate the clause."); Syl. Pt. 2, *Ex Parte Quarrier and Fitzbaugh*, 4 W. Va. 210 (1870) ("*ex post facto* laws relate to penal and criminal proceedings, and not to civil proceedings which effect private rights retrospectively.")

This Court has held that

the question of whether a particular statutorily defined penalty is civil or criminal is a matter of statutory construction, and requires the application of a two-level inquiry adopted by the United States Supreme Court in *United States v. Ward*, 448 U.S. 242 (1980). First, courts must determine whether the legislature indicated, either expressly or impliedly, a preference for labelling the statute civil or criminal. Second, if the legislature indicates an intention to establish a civil remedy, courts must consider whether the legislature, irrespective of its intent to create a civil remedy, provided for sanctions so punitive as to transform the civil remedy into a criminal penalty.

State ex rel. Palumbo v. Graley's Body Shop, Inc., 188 W. Va. 501, 507, 425 S.E.2d 177, 183 (1992).

This Court further held that

[a]s part of the second level of the inquiry, courts should be guided by the following factors identified by the United States Supreme Court in *Kennedy v. Mendoza-Martinez*, 372 U.S. 144, 168-69 (1963):

Whether the sanction involves an affirmative disability or restraint, whether it has historically been regarded as a punishment, whether it comes into play only on a finding of scienter, whether its operation will promote the traditional aims of punishment--retribution and deterrence, whether the behavior to which it applies is already a crime, whether an alternative purpose to which it may rationally be connected is assignable for it, and whether it appears excessive in relation to the alternative purpose assigned[.]

Id.

The United States Supreme Court has held that “[a]bsent conclusive evidence of [legislative] intent as to the penal nature of a statute, these factors must be considered in relation to the statute on its face.” *Mendoza-Martinez*, 372 U.S. at 168-69.

The legislative intent is clear that W. Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) is a civil statute, not a criminal statute. It is further clear that its purpose is not penal in nature nor does it operate to extend criminal punishment. Instead, the stated purpose of W. Va. Code §§17A-6E-1, *et seq.* (2006) is “to protect retail motor vehicle customers, motor vehicle dealers, banks and the state from sustaining losses due to the fraudulent activity of persons engaged in the business of selling vehicles.” W. Va. Code §17A-6E-1(a) (2006). And the statute is contained within an administrative chapter of the West Virginia Code (i.e. Chapter 17A) and does not in any way label the statute criminal either expressly or impliedly.

Because the Legislature clearly indicated that it intended the statute to be civil in nature, the seven *Mendoza-Martinez* factors must be considered. This analysis shows that denying an automobile salesperson license is not so punitive as to transform the civil remedy into a criminal penalty.

A. Whether the sanction involves an affirmative disability or restraint.

The statute does not impose a physical restraint, which is the “paradigmatic affirmative disability or restraint.” *Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84, 100 (2004). The denial of a motor vehicle salesperson license closely mirrors “occupational debarment,” the selective prohibition of certain individuals from participating in particular industries, especially where recidivism is a concern. *See id.* Although “sanctions of occupational debarment” are “harsh,” they are “nonpunitive.” *Id.*, citing *Hudson v. United States*, 522 U.S. 93, 104 (1997); *De Veau v. Braisted*, 363 U.S. 144, 160 (1960).

The court below points to Respondent’s “[in]ability to earn a living in a profession he has pursued nearly his entire adult life.” (App. at 134). But this consequence is no more inherently severe than the *Hudson* and *De Veau* denials of employment in specific fields of industry. At best, this is simply one of many collateral consequences of committing a felony.

B. Whether the sanction has historically been regarded as a punishment.

Denial of a professional license has not historically been regarded as punishment. As the United States Supreme Court explained, “revocation of a privilege voluntarily granted” is “characteristically free of the punitive criminal element.” *Helvering v. Mitchell*, 303 U.S. 391, 399 (1938). The Court applied this reasoning to individuals who were “prohibited from further participating in the banking industry,” and found that such a bar on employment “[has not] historically been viewed as punishment.” *Hudson*, 522 U.S. at 104. This factor thus also weighs in favor of finding that the denial of a motor vehicle salesperson license is nonpunitive.

C. Whether the sanction is implicated only upon a finding of scienter.

The statute does not have any inherent scienter requirements built into it. The statute states that the WVDMV “shall refuse to issue the license if the applicant: . . . Has been convicted of a felony.” W. Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006). Thus, the plain language of the statute indicates that it applies “without regard to the violator’s state of mind.” *Hudson*, 522 U.S. at 104. Moreover, the Court in *Smith* held that where a “regulatory scheme applies only to past conduct, which was, and is, a crime,” the scienter factor is of little weight. *Smith*, 538 U.S. at 105. Accordingly, there is no scienter aspect to the statute and nothing to point toward the statute being criminal in nature.

D. Whether the sanction’s operation promotes the traditional aims of punishment.

The statute promotes deterrence—a traditional aim of punishment. But the deterrent effect of the statute is a mere side effect of the statute’s true purpose: to protect the public from fraud in

the motor vehicle industry. This is a wholly non-punitive objective. In *Hudson*, the Court held this factor neutral because occupational debarment, “while intended to deter future wrongdoing, also serve[d] to promote the stability of the banking industry.” 522 U.S. at 105. Like in *Hudson*, this factor does not weigh in favor of finding the statute punitive.

E. Whether the behavior affected by the sanction is already a crime.

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