DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Docket No. 19-0484

ADAM HOLLEY, ACTING COMMISSIONER OF WEST VIRGINIA DIVISION OF MOTOR VEHICLES,

RESPONDENT BELOW, PETITIONER,



v.

TIMOTHY R. MCCABE,

PETITIONER BELOW, RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF TIMOTHY R. MCCABE RESPONDENT

JAMES G. BORDAS III (#8518) ERICA CROSS CONTI (#12974) BORDAS & BORDAS, PLLC 1358 National Road Wheeling, WV 26003 Telephone: (304) 242-8410 Fax: (304) 242-3936 jbordasiii@bordaslaw.com econti@bordaslaw.com Counsel for Respondent, Timothy R. McCabe

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) violates a number of constitutional provisions as brought to light by Mr. McCabe's successful appeal to the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia, from the Commissioner for the West Virginia DMV's Final Order denying Mr. McCabe's automobile salesperson licensure. App. at P. 129-150. The Circuit Court reversed the denial of the Commissioner's Final Order refusing to grant Mr. McCabe his salesperson licensure on multiple constitutional grounds. These grounds being that (1) W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) constitutes an *ex post facto* law when applied retroactively to Mr. McCabe's unique situation; (2) W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) violates the West Virginia and United States Constitutions as it fails to satisfy due process requirements and constitutes an irrebuttable presumption; (3) W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-

4(c)(5) is overly broad; and (4) W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) is overly narrow in violation of both the due process and equal protection provisions. *Id.* These grounds for reversal by the Circuit Court of Ohio County, West Virginia, were not erroneous, and thus the Ohio County Circuit Court's Order should be upheld by this Court.

First, prior to the enactment of W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-1, et seq. in March of 2006 which statute went into effect on June 9, 2006, there was no requirement that automobile salespersons in the State of West Virginia be licensed. Moreover, there was no prohibition as to who could obtain this licensure. However, upon enactment of W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-3(a), it was declared as law that "no person may engage in business in this state as a motor vehicle salesperson on and after the first day of January, two thousand eight, without holding a license issued under the provisions of this article."

Mr. McCabe's plea agreement was signed over fourteen (14) years ago on October 10, 2005. App. at P. 69-73. At the time Mr. McCabe entered into the plea agreement, W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) was not in effect. This application of the law in regard to those who had committed a crime prior to the enactment thereto of this statutory framework is not only in direct contravention to the prospective nature of the statute, but also violates constitutional principles. This Court has held, "[a] statute is presumed to be prospective in its operation unless expressly made retrospective." *Martinez v. Asplundh Tree Expert Co.*, 239 W.Va. 612, 803 S.E.2d 582, 586-587 (2017). This retroactive application, as correctly held by the Circuit Court, was in contravention to West Virginia caselaw and further, was erroneous when considering the language of other provisions within Article 6(E), specifically, W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-3(c) which provides, "[a]ny person employed by licensed dealers as a salesperson immediately preceding the effective date of this section is exempt from the requirements of the background investigation and the written test.

..." This Court has held, "[i]n ascertaining legislative intent, effect must be given to each part of the statute and to the statute as a whole so as to accomplish the general purpose of the legislation." Syl. Pt. 2, Smith v. State Workers Compensation Comm., 159 W.Va. 108, 219 S.E. 2d 361 (W.Va. 1976).

In looking at this statutory scheme as a whole, the legislature set forth a prospective date upon which the provisions within the statute would take effect. Moreover, within the statute are provisions exempting those who were previously employed salespersons from undergoing a background test. Therefore, these two unambiguous terms of the statute clearly demonstrate a prospective application of the statute at hand.

Further supporting this fact is the Circuit Court's accurate determination that a retroactive application of the statutory framework would result in W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) operating as an *ex post facto* law. Petitioner argues that because this statute is a civil statute, the same cannot constitute an *ex post facto* law – this is clearly in contradiction to West Virginia and Supreme Court precedent. The definition of an unconstitutional *ex post facto* law was set forth best in Syllabus Pt. 1 of *Adkins v. Bordenkircher*, 164 W.Va. 292, 262 S.E.2d 885 (1980), in which the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals held, "[u]nder ex post facto principles of the United States and West Virginia Constitutions, a law passed after the commission of an offense which increases the punishment, lengthens the sentence or operates to the detriment of the accused, cannot be applied to him." Moreover, *Haislop v. Edgell*, 593 S.E.2d 839, 845 (W.Va. 2003), provides:

The question whether an Act is civil or punitive in nature is initially one of statutory construction. A court will reject the Legislature's manifest intent only when a party challenging the Act provides the clearest proof that the statutory scheme is so punitive in either purpose or effect as to negate the Legislature's intention.

(citing Hensler v. Cross, 210 W.Va. 530, 558 S.E.2d 330 (2001)).

Here, the Circuit Court did not err in finding that "the statute operates to deny him the ability to earn a living in a profession he has pursued nearly his entire adult life. Had Mr. McCabe known at the time of his guilty plea that, in the future, he would be denied the ability to pursue his chosen profession, he may have made a different decision with regard to his guilty plea." App. at P. 134-135. Clearly, this statutory provision makes more burdensome the punishment to which Mr. McCabe served over a decade ago, thus resulting in an *ex post facto* law.

Second, the Circuit Court did not err in finding that Mr. McCabe was denied due process of law through the denial of his salesperson licensure by the Petitioner. Specifically, this Court has consistently held, a "license to practice a profession is a valuable right, one that will be protected by the law." State ex rel. Hoover v. Smith, 198 W.Va. 507, 511, 482 S.E.2d 124, 128 (1997). Thus, administrative agencies, in ensuring that due process requirements are satisfied, must "use the procedures which have traditionally been associated with the judicial process" prior to taking away a fundamental interest of a citizen of its state. See generally 2 Am.Jur.2d Administrative Law § 140 (1994). Here, while Mr. McCabe was given notice of the denial of his license as well as given the opportunity to appear for a hearing and produce evidence on his behalf, this procedure and opportunity was meaningless because W.Va. Code §17A-6E-4(c)(5) does not allow for exemptions to the prohibition of licensure for those who were convicted of felonies involving financial matters in the automobile industry. Mr. McCabe could have been given all the procedures available by the Petitioner; however, because these procedures are arbitrary and capricious as they have no impact on whether an exemption or a reversal of the denial of the license can be given, the procedures are essentially meaningless in contravention to due process principles.

Lastly, the Circuit Court did not err in holding that W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) is unconstitutional as it is both overly broad and overly narrow, thus violating the due process and

equal protection clause. This Court has held "[a] statute may be constitutional as written yet be unconstitutionally applied in a given case." Syl. Pt. 2, *State ex rel. Miller v. Locke*, 162 W.Va. 946, 253 S.E.2d 540 (1979). "In order for a statute 'to withstand constitutional scrutiny under the substantive due process standard, it must appear that the means chosen by the Legislature to achieve a proper legislative purpose bear a rational relationship to that purpose and are not arbitrary or discriminatory." *State ex rel. Harris v. Calendine*, 160 W.Va. 172, 179, 233 S.E.2d 318, 324 (1977).

W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) unequivocally states:

The division shall refuse to issue the license if the applicant . . . [h]as been convicted of a felony: Provided, That upon the applicant's appeal the commissioner may grant an exemption to this restriction if the felony did not involve financial matters or the motor vehicle industry.

The Circuit Court properly held that the statute is overly broad in that it provides no exceptions at all for those who have committed felonies involving financial matters in the motor vehicle industry. Because all individuals are required to be given due process prior to the government taking away a property interest such as their fundamental right to earn a living, it is clear that this statute fails to provide for such due process and violates the equal protection clause based on the categorization of these individuals.

Likewise, the Circuit Court properly held that the statute is overly narrow in that it specifically prohibits those who have committed a certain type of felony from obtaining the requisite licensing needed to work in the automobile field, as well as those who have committed crimes involving a fraudulent act or omission or someone who has repeatedly defaulted in financial obligations regarding the motor vehicle industry - yet allows other individuals who are guilty of criminal acts to acquire licensure so long as they do not fall within the categories set forth in

Sections (c)(4) and (c)(5) of this statutory provision. These prohibitions constitute irrebuttable presumptions which the United States Supreme Court of Appeals has found to be unconstitutional. *Cleveland Bd. of Educ. v. LaFleur*, 414 U.S. 632 (1974).

Moreover, when it comes to whether a certain classification under legislative enactment which precludes individuals from acquiring certain licensure is constitutional under the due process and equal protection clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment, the United States Supreme Court of Appeals has held, "any qualification must have a rational connection with the applicant's fitness or capacity to perform the job." *Schware v. Board of Bar Examiners*, 353 U.S. 232, 239 (1957).

Here, because of the language of the subject statute, there was no opportunity for Mr. McCabe to argue that his fundamental right to employment should not be taken away; nor was there ever an opportunity for Mr. McCabe to argue that his due process rights were being violated at the time he signed his plea agreement in 2005 because W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) was not a statute at the time. Notably however, even if there was an opportunity for argument that Mr. McCabe should be permitted to obtain his licensure, the very language of the statute precludes this argument from having any effect or impact due to the strict language of the statute, and in essence, is an irrebuttable presumption.

In sum, because the Circuit Court properly held that the Commissioner for the West Virginia Department of Motor Vehicles' Final Order of October 19, 2018 was required to be reversed and Mr. McCabe's salesperson license to be granted based on the unconstitutionality of W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) when applied to Mr. McCabe's situation, this Court must affirm the Circuit Court's Order.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Petitioner has requested oral argument in this case pursuant to Rule 20 of the Revised Rules of Appellate Procedure as this case involves issues of first impression, issues of fundamental importance, and constitutional questions regarding the validity of W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5). Respondent, Mr. McCabe, agrees with Petitioner that this is a matter of first impression and, thus, requests oral argument before this Court as the same will be necessary for the resolution of this matter. Mr. McCabe further requests that subsequent to oral argument, the Court decide the case on the merits by issuing an opinion affirming the rulings made by the Circuit Court in its April 30, 2019 Order.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. Standard of Review

Under W.Va. Code § 29A-5-4 (1998), a Circuit Court may reverse or vacate the order of an agency if the substantial rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, decision or order are:

- (1) In violation of Constitutional or statutory provisions; or
- (2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or
- (3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or
- (4) Affected by other error of law; or
- (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (6) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Pursuant to Rule 6(e) of the West Virginia Rules of Procedure for Administrative Appeals, "[t]he judgment of the circuit court shall be final unless reversed, vacated or modified on appeal to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, in accordance with W.Va. Code § 29A-6-1." Pursuant

to W.Va. Code § 29A-6-1, "any party adversely affected by the final judgment of the circuit court under this chapter may seek review thereof by appeal to the Supreme Court of Appeals of this state, and jurisdiction is hereby conferred upon such court to hear and entertain such appeals upon application made therefor in the manner and within the time provided by law for civil appeals generally."

Upon this Court's review of the Circuit Court's Order deciding an administrative appeal, the Court decides such questions of law *de novo*. Pursuant to *West Virginia Health Care Cost Review Authority v. Boone Memorial Hosp.*, 196 W.Va. 326, 335, 472 S.E. 2d 211 (1996), this Court has held "[i]nterpreting a statute or an administrative rule or regulation presents a purely legal question subject to *de novo* review." Moreover, pursuant to Syl. Pt. 1 in *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995), "[w]here the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a *de novo* standard of review."

II. The Petitioner's Assignments of Error are Without Merit.

A. W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) constitutes an *ex post facto* law when applied retroactively to Mr. McCabe or others convicted of felonies prior to its effective date of application.

The Petitioner here proceeds from a faulty premise claiming that (1) W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) was intended to apply retroactively; (2) W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) (2006) does not implicate the *ex post facto* clause because it is civil in nature; and (3) that the *Mendoza-Martinez* factors lean towards W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) being civil in nature. These arguments are without merit, and, thus, the Circuit Court's Order concluding that the statute when applied retroactively to Mr. McCabe's unique situation constitutes an *ex post facto* law should be affirmed.

1. The Circuit Court did not err in finding that the statute itself does not call for a retroactive application of the same.

As an initial matter, it is clear that the Circuit Court properly held that the statutory framework of W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-1, *et seq.* indicates that W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) was not intended to apply retroactively to Mr. McCabe.

This Court has held time and time again that the language of a statutory framework is the first place to look in determining statutory intent. While the Petitioner argues that this statute was intended to apply retroactively, this application would be in direct contradiction to the language of the statute which specifically sets forth a *prospective date* upon which the licensing scheme and restrictions were to be enforced. As set forth in Syl. Pt. 2, State v. Elder, 152 W.Va. 571, 165 S.E.2d 108 (1968), "[w]here the language of a statute is clear and without ambiguity the plain meaning is to be accepted without resorting to the rules of interpretation." Here, the licensing requirement was clearly set forth to have a prospective application. Moreover, the Petitioner agrees that controlling caselaw in this State provides, "[a] statute is presumed to be prospective in its operation unless expressly made retrospective." W.Va. Code § 2-2-10(bb); Martinez v. Asplundh Tree Expert Co., 239 W.Va. 612, 803 S.E.2d 582, 586-587 (2017). "The presumption is that a statute is intended to operate prospectively, and not retrospectively, unless it appears, by clear, strong and imperative words or by necessary implication, that the Legislature intended to give the statute retroactive force and effect." Id. (citing Syl. Pt. 4, Taylor v. State Compensation Comm'r, 140 W.Va. 572, 86 S.E.2d 114 (1955); Syl. Pt. 2, In re Petition for Attorney Fees and Costs: Cassella v. Mylan Pharm., Inc., 234 W.Va. 485, 766 S.E.2d 432 (2014)).

Clearly, the Legislature did not intend to give W.Va. Code § 17A-6E-4(c)(5) retroactive application or the licensing requirement and prohibitions as to who could acquire licensure would have gone into effect without a prospective date. Nonetheless, the Commissioner has overlooked this

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